VISCONSIN CLERK OF CO

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Appellate Case No. 2015AP701

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-VS-

MANUEL TALAVERA,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Appealed from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Circuit Court for Waukehsa, the Honorable Donald J. Hassin, Jr., Presiding Trial Court Case Nos. 13 CT 1322

Respectfully Submitted:

Melowski & Associates, LLC 524 South Pier Drive Sheboygan, WI 53081 Telephone: (920) 208-3800 Facsimile: (920) 395-2443

By: **Sarvan Singh, Jr.** State Bar No. 1049920 Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

I. WHETHER THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE ESTABLISHING PROBABLE CAUSE TO DETAIN MR. TALAVERA?

Trial Court Answered: Yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The Defendant-Appellant believes oral argument is unnecessary in this case. Pursuant to Rule 809.22(2)(b), stats., the briefs will fully develop and explain the issues. Therefore, oral argument would be of only marginal value and would not justify the expense of court time.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The Defendant-Appellant believes publication of this case is also unnecessary. Pursuant to Rule 809.23(1)(b), stats., this case involves the application of well-settled rules of law to a common fact situation.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

This case concerns what minimal articulable facts are needed to support probable cause to stop a citizen motorist for a violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.34(1)(b).

On September 15, 2013, at approximately 2:26 a.m., Deputy Knipfer observed the defendant's motor vehicle on Townline Road just north of Main Street in the Village of Sussex/Town of Lisbon. (15 at 4-5). Knipfer decided to follow the vehicle. While behind it, Knipfer performed a routine check of the vehicle's registration. (15 at 5). Knipfer failed to elaborate on whether the registration check yielded any germane information. He continued following the vehicle, which was traveling north towards the roundabout. As it approached, Knipfer alleges that it accelerated abruptly to 30 or 35 miles per hour out of the roundabout to then continue north on Townline Road. (15 at 6). However, the deputy also conceded there was no reference to the speed of the vehicle in his report. (15 at 10). In fact, he only described the vehicle as

accelerating from the roundabout "abruptly". (15 at 11). Furthermore, he did not hear the vehicle burn or spin out when it left the roundabout. (15 at 11). The speed was a visual estimation by Knipfer as he was not operating the moving laser at the time. (15 at 11). The vehicle continued northbound and eventually made a left-hand turn onto Valley View Drive. (15 at 6). The vehicle failed to signal when it executed the left-hand turn. (15 at 7). Knipfer indicates he was directly behind the vehicle approximately two car lengths. (15 at 7). Shortly thereafter, the vehicle took a right-hand turn where it also failed to signal. (15 at 7). It then took another left turn, at which point the deputy initiated the traffic stop. (15 at 7). Furthermore, during the one and a half miles the deputy followed the vehicle, he witnessed no signs of swerving, weaving, or crossing the center or fog line. (15 at 10-11). Knipfer testified that, other than his vehicle, there was no other traffic at the time he was following the vehicle. (15 at 11). He further testified that no traffic was affected other than him. (15 at 11). Knipfer testified that he initiated a stop based upon the defendant's inability to signal before executing his turns. (15 at 7). The deputy informed the trial court that state statutes prohibit turning without a signal. (15 at 7).

Based upon a subsequent investigation, the defendant was arrested for Operating While Intoxicated (OWI) - Second Following the return of the blood test results Offense. obtained through the implied consent process, Wis. Stat. § 343.305, the defendant was issued a citation for Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration (PAC) – Second Offense. On September 17, 2013, a criminal complaint was filed charging the defendant with OWI - Second Offense and PAC - Second Offense. On December 17, 2013, the defendant filed a Motion to Suppress Based upon Lack of Reasonable Suspicion to Detain the Defendant. (5). An evidentiary motion hearing was held on January 30, 2014, at which time the defendant argued both a lack of reasonable suspicion and probable cause to stop due to the officer's failure to provide any facts that "other traffic may be affected by the movement" as required by Wis. Stat. § 346.34(1)(b). (5). The trial court ruled that the officer had probable cause to stop the defendant for a violation of that statute. The trial court denied the defendant's motion by ruling that it was not unreasonable to construe that the officer's operation of his vehicle may well have been affected by the defendant's failure to signal. (15 at 17). On September 12, 2014, the Court signed an Order officially denying the defendant's motion. (10).

ARGUMENT

I. THE ARRESTING OFFICER DID NOT HAVE PROBABLE CAUSE TO DETAIN THE DEFENDANT.

Deputy Knipfer detained Mr. Talavera because he believed Talavera was committing a traffic violation by failing to signal before executing a turn. When the question is whether the officer believes he or she is observing a vehicle code violation, the detention by law enforcement is held to the higher standard of probable cause. *State v. Longcore*, 240 Wis. 2d 429, 623 N.W.2d 201 (Ct. App. 2000).

The issue of probable cause is based on the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. *State v. Paszek*, 50 Wis. 2d 619, 624, 184 N.W.2d 836 (1971); *State v. Richardson*, 156 Wis. 2d 128, 137, 456 N.W.2d 830 (1990). When an arrest is made without a warrant, the burden is on the State to show the existence of probable cause. *Vale v. Louisiana*, 339 U.S. 30 (1970). The Wisconsin Supreme Court defines probable cause generally as "the quantum of evidence which would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that the defendant probably committed a crime." *State v. Nordness*, 128 Wis. 2d 15, 35, 381 N.W.2d 300 (1986). Probable cause exists where the totality of the circumstances known to the officer would lead a reasonable officer to believe the defendant has committed an offense. *Id.* The test for probable cause is whether the officer has sufficient facts to believe that guilt is more than a possibility. *County of Dane v. Sharpee*, 154 Wis. 2d 515, 518, 453 N.W.2d 508 (Ct. App. 1990). Accordingly, information which establishes probable cause must be measured by the facts of each case. *State v. Wilks*, 117 Wis. 2d 495, 502, 345 N.W.2d 498 (Ct. App. 1984).

As stated earlier, a detention for a specific traffic code violation must be supported by probable cause. *Longcore*, 240 Wis. 2d at 431-32. Presently, Talavera did not commit a traffic violation. Knipfer assumed Talavera committed a traffic violation when he believed Talavera's failure to signal prior to executing three turns was a violation of law. Under Wisconsin law, it is unlawful to turn any vehicle without signaling *if it may affect other traffic*. Specifically, Wis. Stat. § 346.34(1)(b) provides:

> In the event any other traffic may be affected by the movement, no person may turn any vehicle without giving an appropriate signal in the manner provided in s. 346.35. A person making a U-turn shall use the same signal used to indicate a left turn. When given by the operator of a vehicle other than a bicycle or electric personal assistive mobility device, the signal shall be given continuously during not less than the last 100 feet traveled by the vehicle before turning. The operator of a bicycle or electric personal assistive mobility device shall give the signal continuously during not less than the last 50 feet traveled before turning. A signal by the hand and arm need not be given continuously if the hand is needed in the control or operation of the bicycle or electric personal assistive mobility device. (emphasis added).

The record provided to this court fails to show there was an actual violation of the above-referenced statute. It would only apply if other traffic was affected by the defendant's failure to signal. The record is barren to that fact save this exchange with

Deputy Knipfer:

- Q: Was there any other traffic at that time as you were following the vehicle?
- A: No, just my squad car behind him.
- Q: Just your squad car. Okay. So no other traffic was affected, is that safe to say?
- A: Other than me, no.

However, there is no information *how* the deputy was affected. Did he have to brake suddenly? Was he forced to swerve? Did he have to take any type of affirmative action to avoid a collision? Was he simply inconvenienced? There is nothing in the record articulating how the other traffic (in this case, Deputy Knipfer) was affected. There is nothing in the record other than a simple, bald assertion by the deputy that he was affected. "[F]ailure to give a right-hand turn signal is not a traffic violation unless 'other traffic may be affected by such movement."" *City of Milwaukee v. Johnson*, 21 Wis. 2d 411, 413, 124 N.W.2d 690 (1963). Despite the statute's use of the word "may," it is not enough that other traffic could have been affected; the statute requires that other traffic was actually

affected and an articulation as to how it was affected. State v. Anagnos, 2011 WI App 118, 337 Wis. 2d 57, 805 N.W.2d 722 (overruled on other grounds by State v. Anagnos, 2012 WI 64, 341 Wis. 2d 576, 815 N.W.2d 675). By interpreting "may affect" as "could have affected", the trial court's ruling allows for all unsignalled turns to be penalized regardless of the actual circumstances. Such an interpretation would render the introductory clause of the statute superfluous. In State v. Anagnos, the Court of Appeals interpreted City of Milwaukee v. Johnson to stand for the proposition that "[e]vidence in the record must support a finding that [the defendant's] failure to use a turn signal affected other traffic." Anagnos, 2012 WI 64 at ¶7. Similarly in this case, in order to have affected traffic, there would need to be articulable facts supporting a violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.34(1)(b). There are none. Because there was no effect on Deputy Knipfer when the defendant executed his turns, there was no probable cause to believe that traffic was affected. Therefore, Knipfer stopped Talavera without the

"quantum of evidence" required to show Talavera violated Wis. Stat. § 346.34(1)(b). Deputy Knipfer's error was mistake of law and therefore the stop was not lawful. The issue is then whether an officer has probable cause that a law has been broken when his interpretation of the law is incorrect." *State v.* Longcore 226 Wis. 2d 1, 8, (1999). "If the facts would support a violation only under a legal misinterpretation, no violation has occurred, and thus by definition there can be no probable cause that a violation has occurred." Id. "We conclude that when an officer relates the facts to a specific offense, it must indeed be an offense; a lawful stop cannot be predicated upon a mistake of law." Id. While the deputy said "he" was affected, he failed to explain how and instead simply thought failing to signal was a violation even absent any effect on traffic. Because Knipfer was mistaken in his application of the law, this Court should find he did not have probable cause to believe Wis. Stat. § 346.34(1)(b) had been violated. Longcore, 240 Wis. 2d at 431-32.

Furthermore, there was also an insufficient basis to stop based on any speed violations observed by Knipfer. He estimated the speed of the vehicle at between 30 to 35 miles per hour as it entered the roundabout. However, this was a very brief visual estimation, unconfirmed with the assistance of radar or laser. Furthermore, the deputy conceded that he simply described the vehicle accelerating "abruptly" (15 at 11). Over the one and a half miles he followed the vehicle, Knipfer failed to observe any kind of suspicious driving, such as weaving, swerving, or additional instances of speeding. These observations fail to rise to the level of probable cause to detain the defendant on the suspicion of speeding.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFOR, Mr. Talavera respectfully requests this

Court to reverse and remand the trial court's denial of his Motion to Suppress on the grounds that the officer lacked probable cause to justify detaining Mr. Talavera.