RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIO7-29-2015 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

2015AP701

Manuel Talavera

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal of an order denying Defendant's motion to suppress evidence and judgment of conviction entered in the Circuit Court of Waukesha County, the Honorable Michael J. Aprahamian, Jr., Presiding. Trial Court Case No. 13CT1322

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Abbey Nickolie State Bar No. 1092722 Waukesha County District Attorney's Office Waukesha County Courthouse 515 West Moreland Boulevard Waukesha, Wisconsin 53188 (262) 548-7076

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether Deputy Knipfer had reasonable suspicion to stop the defendant for a traffic violation after he observed the defendant make three turns without signaling, and accelerate rapidly around a roundabout.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Plaintiff-Respondent ("state") submits that oral argumentation is unnecessary because the issues can be set forth fully in the briefs. Publication is unnecessary as the issues presented relate solely to the application of existing law to the facts of the record.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 30, 2014, the defendant brought a motion in front of Waukesha County Circuit Court Judge Donald Hassin, to suppress evidence for lack of reasonable suspicion for a traffic stop conducted by Deputy Scott Knipfer of the Waukesha County Sherriff's Department. (R. 15:2, App. 1-2). This stop occurred on September 15, 2013, which resulted in the defendant being arrested for, and ultimately convicted of, operating while intoxicated as a second offense. (R. 15:4, App. 4; R. 12, App. 23-24).

During the motion hearing, Deputy Knipfer testified that in the early morning of September 15, 2013, he was working as a patrol deputy and driving a marked Chevrolet Tahoe. (R. 15:4, App. 4:10-17). He indicated that at about 2:30 a.m. that day he noticed a red Chevy leave a parking lot and turn onto Town Line Road in the Village of Sussex, Waukesha County, Wisconsin. (R. 15:4, App. 4:18-5:7). Deputy Knipfer subsequently learned this vehicle was being driven by the defendant. (R. 15:8, App. 8:6-17). Deputy Knipfer continued northbound behind the vehicle on Town Line Road as it approached a roundabout. (R. 15:5, App. 5:13-17). Deputy Knipfer testified that the recommended speed limit at the roundabout is 15 miles per hour. (R. 15:5, App. 5:19-20).

Deputy Knipfer testified that as the defendant's vehicle entered the roundabout he accelerated abruptly to between 30 to 35 miles per hour. (R. 15:6, App. 6:2-4). He explained this estimation of the defendant's speed was based on his observations of the defendant's vehicle against static points along the road, as well as his training during radar and laser certification school. (R. 15:6, App. 6:7-17). The deputy then watched as the defendant made a left hand turn onto Valley View Road without activating his turn signal in anticipation of the turn. (R. 15:6-7, App. 6:20-7:3). At the time the defendant failed to use his turn signal, Deputy Knipfer was directly behind the defendant's vehicle by about two car lengths. (R. 15:7, App. 7:4-6).

Deputy Knipfer noted that he believed he could see another vehicle's headlights in the distance at the time of the first left turn. (R. 15:7, App. 7:7-10). The defendant then proceeded to make two more turns without using his turn signal, all while Deputy Knipfer followed directly behind. (R. 15:7, App. 7:11-17). After the last turn without a signal, Deputy Knipfer conducted a traffic stop. (R. 15:7, App. 7:16).

In finding that there was reasonable suspicion for Deputy Knipfer to initiate the traffic stop, the court noted that the turn signal statute requires people to utilize turn signals when other traffic may be affected. (R. 15:14, App. 14:7-12). Judge Hassin then found, "...[the defendant] made three turns with the squad vehicle right behind him, at least that's the record. Not one of the occasions did he signal and I think it's not unreasonable to construe that the officer's operation of his vehicle may well have been affected by your client's failure to signal whether he decided he was going to follow him or he wasn't going to follow him." (R. 15:17, App. 17:18-24). By this logic the court denied the defense motion to suppress, holding Deputy Knipfer effectuated a valid stop for failure to signal. (R. 15:18, App. 17:25-18:9).

ARGUMENT

In reviewing a lower court's decision on the suppression of evidence, this Court should uphold the trial court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Eason*, 2001 WI 98, ¶ 9, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 221, 629 N.W.2d 625, 631. A court's factual findings made during a motion to suppress are clearly erroneous if they are "against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." *See State v. Guzy*, 139 Wis. 2d 663, 407 N.W.2d 548, 552 (1987) (citing *State v. Flynn*, 92 Wis.2d 427, 437, 285 N.W.2d 710 (1979)).

The review of the trial court's decision whether this defendant's constitutional rights were violated should be reviewed de novo. *State v. Houghton*, 2015 WI 79, ¶ 18. The Wisconsin Supreme Court recently clarified the standard required to support a traffic stop, an issue pertinent to many suppression motions including the motion being reviewed in the case at hand. *Id.* at ¶ 5. The Court held that, "…an officer's reasonable suspicion that a motorist is violating or has violated a traffic law is sufficient for the officer to initiate a traffic stop of the offending vehicle." *Id.* Thus, reasonable suspicion, and not probable cause is required in this case.

Reasonable suspicion requires that, "the officer must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion." *Terry v.*

Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21, 22 (1968). Additionally, "The reasonableness of

a stop is determined based on the totality of the facts and

circumstances." State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 13, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 9, 733

N.W.2d 634, 638. It is a common sense test that considers the officer's

training and experience to analyze the stop's reasonableness. Id.

Pertinent to this case, Section 346.34(1) (b), Wisconsin Statutes,

requires drivers making turns to use a signal if other traffic may be

affected. Specifically it states:

In the event any other traffic may be affected by the movement, no person may turn any vehicle without giving an appropriate signal in the manner provided in s. 346.35. A person making a U-turn shall use the same signal used to indicate a left turn. When given by the operator of a vehicle other than a bicycle or electric personal assistive mobility device, the signal shall be given continuously during not less than the last 100 feet traveled by the vehicle before turning. The operator of a bicycle or electric personal assistive mobility device or electric personal assistive mobility device shall give the signal continuously during not less than the last 50 feet traveled before turning. A signal by the hand and arm need not be given continuously if the hand is needed in the control or operation of the bicycle or electric personal assistive mobility device.

The Supreme Court of Wisconsin analyzed the turn signal statute, and generally found that the signal is only required when other traffic may be affected, as stated in the statute. *City of Milwaukee v. Johnston*, 21 Wis. 2d 411, 413, 124 N.W.2d 690 (1963). In a Court of Appeals case, the court held that "other traffic" could not have been affected, and therefore the driver did not violate the statute, where driver turned left without a signal while the deputy watched from the right hand turn lane of the same intersection and no other traffic was observed during the turn. *In re Anagnos*, 2011 WI App 118, ¶ 9, 337 Wis. 2d 57, 63-64, 805 N.W.2d 722, 725. The *Anagnos* court relied on the Wisconsin Supreme Court's interpretation of the signal statute where the court held, "...failure to give a right-hand-turn signal is not a traffic violation unless 'other traffic may be affected by such movement." *Johnston* at 413 (quoting Wis. Stat. § 946.34). Over 40 years later, the Court of Appeals in *Anagnos* seemingly added an element to the violation by eliminating the word "may" in its discussion. *Anagnos* at ¶ 9. That court specifically required that, "Evidence in the record must support a finding that Anagnos's failure to use a turn signal affected other traffic." *Id*.

I. DEPUTY KNIPFER HAD REASONABLE SUSPICION THAT THE DEFENDANT VIOLATED SECTION 346.34, WISCONSIN STATUTES, WHEN, WHILE DRIVING BEHIND DEFENDANT AT A DISTANCE OF TWO CAR LENGTHS, HE OBSERVED DEFENDANT MAKE THREE TURNS WITHOUT SIGNALING.

Testimony in this case supports Judge Hassin's finding that Deputy Knipfer may have been affected by the defendant's failure to signal his turn. The deputy did not describe any other traffic in the area, apart from the defendant and his squad, and the state asserts that Deputy Knipfer's squad is the "other traffic" that may have been affected in this case. Common sense certainly informs the analysis in this case, that when a vehicle is following directly behind another vehicle, the following vehicle may be affected by the lead vehicle's failure to signal a turn. Deputy Knipfer estimated he was following the defendant's vehicle at a distance of two car lengths when the first turn was made. Deputy Knipfer testified during cross examination that this did affect his operation of the squad car. (R. 15: 11, App. 11:23-25).

The circuit court's finding that Deputy Knipfer may have been affected by defendant's turns without signal is not clearly erroneous, and should be affirmed on the basis that it is supported by Deputy Knipfer's testimony. The ultimate question of whether the defendant's constitutional rights were violated in this case must be answered in the negative, given the standard of reasonable suspicion required for the stop. Deputy Knipfer certainly had specific articulable facts that led him to believe the defendant violated the turn signal statute, because he saw the defendant fail to use signal and opined it affected his operation. The stop for fail to signal was reasonable based on the positioning of the vehicles.

Defendant relies on *Anagnos* to argue that this court should reverse the trial court, however that case is distinguished factually here. In finding the defendant did not violate the turn signal statute, the court in *Anagnos* noted, "there was no oncoming or following traffic or pedestrians present when he turned." *Anagnos* at ¶ 9. The defendant in this case failed to signal with following traffic, specifically another vehicle following at a close distance of two car lengths.

II. SHOULD THE COURT FIND THAT DEPUTY KNIPFER MISINTERPRETED THE STATUTORY TURN SIGNAL REQUIREMENT, THE MISTAKE WAS A REASONABLE ONE ACCORDINGLY THE STOP SHOULD BE UPHELD.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court in *Houghton*, also adopted the ruling made by the Supreme Court of the United States, stating "We also adopt the Supreme Court's holding in *Heien* that an officer's objectively reasonable mistake of law may form the basis for a finding of reasonable suspicion." *Houghton* at ¶ 5, *see also Heien v. North Carolina*, 574 U.S. ---, 135 S.Ct. 530, 190 L.Ed2d 475 (2014).

Although above, the state argues Deputy Knipfer had reasonable suspicion to stop the defendant for fail to use turn signal, based on the statutory requirement that other traffic "may" have been affected, the defense argues a different standard. Defense argues the record must provide a specific example of how the deputy was affected by the turn, such as action to avoid an accident or braking or swerving. Should this court adopt that interpretation of section 346.34(1)(b), Wisconsin Statutes, the state asserts that Deputy Knipfer's mistake of law was a reasonable one, and therefore the stop was valid.

The plain language of section 346.34(1)(b), Wisconsin Statutes, only creates a signal violation where other traffic "may" be affected. The standard dictionary definition of the term "may" is, "used to express possibility." *May Definition*, DICTIONARY.COM,

http://dictionary.reference.com/browse/may?s=t (last visited July 27, 2015). The plain language does not require officers to witness potential accidents or evasive maneuvers as defendant suggests. Given the language of the statute, Deputy Knipfer's stop was certainly reasonable. The plain language requires only a possibility, where Deputy Knipfer observed an actual affect as the driver of the following vehicle.

The United States Supreme Court found, "To be reasonable is not to be perfect, and so the Fourth Amendment allows for some mistakes on the part of government officials, giving them fair leeway for enforcing the law in the community's protection." *Heien* at 536. When an officer relies on the common understanding of language in the statute, but they are mistaken, it is an inherently reasonable mistake. Additionally, there appears to be some inconsistency between the interpretation of section 346.34(1)(b) by the Wisconsin Supreme Court in *Johnston*, and the Court of Appeals in *Anagnos*, further supporting the reasonableness of Deputy Knipfer's interpretation in this case.

III. SHOULD THIS COURT CONCLUDE DEPUTY KNIPFER HAD NEITHER REASONABLE SUSPICION OF A SIGNAL VIOLATION, NOR A REASONABLE MISTAKE OF LAW, THEN THIS COURT SHOULD UPHOLD THE STOP BASED ON THE SPEEDING VIOLATION

Deputy Knipfer noted that the defendant drove through the roundabout in this case at between 30 and 35 miles per hour. He testified that the recommended speed limit in the roundabout was 15 miles per hour. Additionally, Deputy Knipfer is radar and laser certified, which requires training in speed estimation. (R. 15:6, App. 6:7-17). He utilized skills learned during that training to estimate the defendant's speed in this case, based on static points around the vehicle. Applying the reasonable suspicion standard required for stops based on traffic violations, the defendant's speed provides a basis for the stop in this case.

CONCLUSION

For all the reasons stated above, the state respectfully requests

that the Court affirm the circuit court's denial of the defendant's

suppression motion, and affirm the judgments of conviction.